RECEIVED
May 11 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

—————
Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
—————

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

OTIS EDWARD GIBSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-002069
—————

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
—————

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial judge erred in refusing to allow a law enforcement officer to testify that while investigating an alleged sexual assault against one of Minor's siblings, it was discovered that Minor's mother had instructed the sibling to fabricate the sexual assault where Minor's mother testified that she had not instructed her child to fabricate a sexual assault and therefore, the officer's testimony was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Greenville County grand jury for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree. R. 508-511. Appellant's jury trial was held before the Honorable Robin B. Stillwell and a jury from December 2 – 5, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Chris Shipman and Teal Johnson. R. 1. The state was represented by Elizabeth Major. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged on each count. R. 492, 1. 1 – 493, 1. 8. The judge sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years imprisonment on each charge, with both sentences to run concurrently. R. 500, ll. 18 – 24.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A decision to admit extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion that prejudiced the appellant.” State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 24, 2017, at approximately 1:00 a.m., Thomas Ferris with the Greenville City Police Department went to Appellant's house in response to a call about an alleged criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 13, l. 21 – 14, l. 24; R. 22, ll. 11 – 16. When Ferris arrived, he observed Minor and her mother, Elizabeth Parker, standing outside the house. R. 15, ll. 2 – 9. Ferris knocked on the door of the house and Appellant answered and was detained. R. 16, l. 8 – 17, l. 18.

Jessica Crawford with the Greenville City Police Department also responded to Appellant's house. R. 39, ll. 2 – 21. Crawford said that she spoke with Minor and Minor "said she was mad . . . [a]t what her daddy did to her." R. 41, ll. 7 – 14. Crawford went on to say that Minor claimed she had been sexually abused twice; the first time was "a couple of months ago" and the second time was "last Sunday." R. 42, l. 14 – 43, l. 2. Law enforcement collected Minor's pajamas that she was allegedly wearing during the incident and Appellant's bedding where Minor claimed the incident happened. R. 61, l. 20 – 62, l. 15.

Minor testified that Appellant was like a father figure to her and that she and her mother lived with Appellant when Minor was seven years old. R. 141, l. 1 – 142, l. 7. Minor claimed that Appellant put his "private part" in her "bottom" on two different occasions. R. 145, l. 19 – 146, l. 17. Minor maintained that this happened in Appellant's bedroom on his bed. R. 145, ll. 3 – 8. On Thanksgiving night, Minor told her story to her mother who then contacted the police. R. 151, l. 1 – 153, l. 14. Minor also claimed that she was sexually assaulted by her stepbrother, Josiah, who did to her the "same thing [Appellant] did." R. 159, ll. 2 – 24. The state introduced the video recording of Minor's forensic interview as well. R. 234, ll. 2 – 24; State's Ex. 8 (video recording of forensic interview on file with this Court).

Appellant's semen was found on his own bedding but none of Minor's DNA was found on the bedding. R. 225, l. 3 – 226, l. 20. Minor had a medical exam done in February, three months after Appellant was arrested, and "her exam was normal." R. 241, l. 6 – 243, l. 18. The doctor maintained that she was not surprised that Minor had a normal exam given the delay in time between the alleged penetration and the exam. However, the doctor admitted that Minor's hospital records taken from the night Appellant was arrested also did not indicate any acute or healing trauma to Minors rectal area. R. 246, ll. 1 – 25; R. 249, ll. 17 – 20.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in refusing to allow a law enforcement officer to testify that while investigating an alleged sexual assault against one of Minor's siblings it was discovered that Minor's mother had instructed the sibling to fabricate the sexual assault because Minor's mother testified that she had not instructed her child to fabricate a sexual assault and therefore, the officer's testimony was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement.

Relevant Facts

Minor's mother, Parker, testified that she had five children, with Minor being the youngest. R. 250, l. 18 – 251, l. 11. Parker recalled that in 2005, four years before Minor was born, an allegation of sexual abuse was made by one of her sons. R. 251, l. 25 – 252, l. 2. Parker said that at the time, she had a transgender boy living in her house and the babysitter called Parker while she was at work and told her that the transgender boy had “touched” one of Parker's sons. R. 252, l. 4 – 253, l. 4.

Parker claimed that she later discovered that her son was not sexually assaulted but instead her children just wanted the transgender boy out of the house. R. 253, l. 21 – 254, l. 13. On cross-examination, Parker denied telling her son to tell the police that the transgender boy had touched him. R. 308, l. 24 – 309, l. 2. Parker did however admit that she had taken her son to meet an investigator about the allegations on August 3, 2005. R. 308, ll. 3 – 18.

After the state rested its case, defense counsel sought to call Cheryl Cromartie with the Greenville County Sheriff's Department to impeach Parker with a prior inconsistent statement. Specifically, counsel explained that Cromartie would testify that she investigated the allegation of sexual abuse made by Parker's son and the son told Cromartie that the abuse never happened, but that Parker told him to say he was abused. R. 333, l. 3 – 334, l. 13; R. 502 The state argued

that this was inadmissible as extrinsic evidence of specific instances of conduct under Rule 608, SCRE. R. 335, ll. 7 – 25.

Defense counsel responded that extrinsic evidence of the statement was admissible because Parker denied making the statement in her testimony. R. 337, ll. 11 – 19. Counsel maintained that the extrinsic evidence of Parker's prior inconsistent statement was Cromartie's investigation where she discovered that Parker's son stated that Parker told him to fabricate a sexual assault. R. 337, l. 20 – 338, l. 3. The judge ruled that counsel had not strictly complied with Rule 613, SCRE and therefore the prior inconsistent statement was not admissible. R. 340, l. 10 – 341, l. 5.

Counsel called Cromartie as a witness and she testified that she had investigated an allegation of sexual abuse by one of Parker's sons. R. 350, l. 13 – 352, l. 25. Cromartie testified that after interviewing Parker's son, she contacted the rape crisis center to request a forensic interview and a medical exam. R. 354, ll. 1 – 5. Cromartie informed Parker about the appointments but Parker did not take her son to the medical exam. R. 354, ll. 9 – 19. Cromartie further testified that she closed the case after she reviewed the forensic interview report because she did not believe she could make a case based on what Parker's son said. R. 354, l. 20 – 357, l. 5.

Discussion

Rule 613 (b), SCRE, provides:

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible.

“Under Rule 613(b), extrinsic evidence of the statement is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made.” State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004). “When the issue is whether the witness admitted making the prior inconsistent statement, the admission must be unequivocal.” State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010). See also State v. Sullivan, 43 S.C. 205, 21 S.E. 4, 7 (1895) (noting that if a witness does not directly admit or deny the prior statement but instead simply states that she does not remember, then extrinsic evidence of the prior inconsistent statement is admissible).

In State v. Barnes, 421 S.C. 47, 58, 804 S.E.2d 301, 307 (Ct. App. 2017), this Court noted that Rule 613, SCRE does not require the immediate introduction of extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement because “the avenue of its admissibility may not always run through the witness to be impeached by it, for that witness may not be competent to authenticate the extrinsic evidence.” In Barnes, the state questioned the mother of the defendant about a recorded phone call she had with an investigator. Id. at 57, 804 S.E.2d at 307. While the mother admitted the statement occurred, she denied the content of the statement. The state then called the investigator as a witness who testified to the content of the mother’s prior inconsistent statement. Id.

This Court rejected Barnes’ argument on appeal that the state should have played the recording to his mother while she was on the stand in order to give her an opportunity to explain it. Id. Specifically this Court found that the foundation was laid once the mother was confronted with the substance of her previous statement, the time and place it was made, and the person to whom it was made, and she denied making the statement. Id. at 57-58, 804 S.E.2d at 307.

Similarly, here, once Parker denied making the statement, Cromartie should have been permitted to testify to the substance of Parker's prior inconsistent statement.

Here, the judge erred in refusing to allow Appellant to impeach Parker with her prior inconsistent statement. When Parker was called as a witness by the state, the assistant solicitor specifically asked Parker about the allegations of sexual abuse regarding her son that happened in 2005. Parker claimed that the allegation was fabricated by her children because they wanted the transgender boy out of the house. R. 251, l. 25 – 254, l. 1.

Defense counsel laid the proper foundation by confronting Parker with the substance of her prior statement along with the time and place the statement was made and to whom the statement was made. Parker clearly and unequivocally denied making the statement. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 613 (b), SCRE, counsel should have been allowed to introduce extrinsic evidence of Parker's statement to her son where she told her son to fabricate a sexual assault allegation.

In State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 550, 698 S.E.2d 572, 584 (2010), the Supreme Court ruled that the trial judge properly allowed the state to introduce extrinsic evidence of the defendant's mother's prior inconsistent statements through several different witnesses. The defendants in Bixby were accused of murdering two law enforcement officers over a dispute regarding the government taking the Bixby's land in order to widen a highway. First, after the defendant's mother, Rita, denied knowing the officer who apprehended her, the officer was permitted to testify to his interaction with her, including her prior inconsistent statement that she was not present at the defendant's house because she needed to "tell the world" why her son and husband were killed. Id. at 550-551, 698 S.E.2d at 584. Because Rita denied making this

statement after she was confronted with the substance, time, place, and to whom the statement was made, extrinsic evidence of the statement was admissible. Id.

Secondly, Rita denied making several statements to the defendant's girlfriend regarding her and her son's involvement in the murders. Id. Subsequently, the state was permitted to call the defendant's girlfriend to the stand who had recorded these prior inconsistent statements made by Rita which were played to the jury. Id. at 551-552, 698 S.E.2d at 584-585. Finally, Rita denied making statements to the sheriff on the phone during the standoff that took place between law enforcement and the defendants. The Bixby Court ruled that because Rita had been apprised of the substance of the statement and denied making it, extrinsic evidence of the sheriff's testimony regarding Rita's prior inconsistent statements was admissible. Id. at 552-553, 698 S.E.2d at 585.

Here, Parker was confronted with the fact that she took her son to law enforcement in August of 2005 to report an allegation of sexual assault. Parker acknowledged that this had taken place but denied telling her son to fabricate the sexual assault. Having been advised and confronted with the time, place and to whom the statement was made, counsel laid the proper foundation for impeachment. Parker was made fully aware of what prior statement counsel was referring to in his cross-examination of her. Parker knew that counsel was referring to her prior statement in which she told her son to lie about sexual assault. Because Parker denied making this statement, extrinsic evidence of this statement was admissible as proper impeachment. The trial judge erred in ruling otherwise and Appellant's convictions should be reversed. See State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 698 S.E.2d 572 (2010); State v. Barnes, 421 S.C. 47, 804 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2017).

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, Appellant's convictions should be reversed, and this case remanded to the Greenville County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.