RECEIVED

May 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-002069

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

OTIS EDWARD GIBSON

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in ruling a statement inadmissible because it was hearsay, and even if it fell under an exception to hearsay, it was not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Greenville County Grand Jury for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree. Appellant proceeded to a jury trial on December 2-5, 2019, in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Elizabeth Major. Chris Shipman, Esquire, and Teal Johnson, Esquire, represented the Appellant. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged on each count. Appellant was sentenced to twenty five years' imprisonment on each charge to run concurrently. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 24, 2017, Thomas Ferris with the Greenville City Police Department went to the house of Otis Edward Gibson (Appellant) in response to a criminal sexual conduct case. (R. 14). When Ferris arrived, Victim (a minor) and Elizabeth Parker (Victim's mother) were standing outside Appellant's house. (R. 15). Ferris informed Appellant the reason for Ferris being there and that Appellant would be detained until it could be determined what happened. (R. 17).

Jessica Crawford with the Greenville City Police Department also responded to Appellant's house. (R. 39). Crawford interviewed Victim, during which time Victim disclosed two incidents of sexual abuse by Appellant. (R. 42). Victim stated the first incident occurred a couple of months prior, after her grandfather had a heart attack, and the second incident occurred "last Sunday" [November 11, 2017].

Rebecca Lindler, an investigator with the Violent Crimes Against Children unit, received the report of criminal sexual conduct by Appellant and requested a forensic interview of Victim. (R. 117). The forensic interview was conducted by Christine Carlburg and was recorded and introduced at trial. (R. 230, State's Exhibit 8). During the interview Victim disclosed that Appellant sexually abused her on two occasions. (State's Exhibit 8).

Victim testified at trial that Appellant was like a father to her and that Victim and her mother lived with Appellant for a while. (R. 141). At trial, Victim maintained that Appellant sexually abused her on two occasions. (R. 145). Victim testified at trial that Appellant put his "private part" in her "bottom" on two separate occasions. (R. 145-46). Both of these incidents occurred in Appellant's bed. (R. 145). On Thanksgiving night, Victim disclosed these incidents to her mother, who then contacted the police. (R. 153). Appellant was arrested and charged with two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the Appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on admissibility of evidence and his decision should not be disturbed absent prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). “A ruling on the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008). “A decision to admit extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion that prejudiced the appellant.” State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010). “To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the [A]ppellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or lack thereof.” State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 13, 716 S.E.2d 332, 336 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in ruling a statement inadmissible because it was hearsay, and even if it fell under an exception to hearsay, it was not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in refusing to allow a law enforcement officer to testify that while investigating an alleged sexual assault against one of the Victim's siblings, the sibling stated that Victim's mother had told the sibling to fabricate the sexual assault. Specifically Appellant argues that this statement by Victim's sibling was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613 SCRE because the Victim's mother denied telling the sibling to fabricate the sexual assault against the sibling. Appellant's argument lacks merit because the statement by Victim's sibling is hearsay and the issue of whether the statement is hearsay was not appealed, and therefore is the law of the case. Even if this appeal is based on admissibility under the exception to hearsay, it was not established that the witness was not unavailable.¹ Further, the statement is not admissible under Rule 613 SCRE because it is not a prior inconsistent statement by Victim's mother. It is a statement made by another witness (Captain Cheryl Cromartie), about a statement allegedly made by a witness (Victim's sibling), about the Victim's mother. Such a statement is certainly not contemplated as admissible under Rule 613 as the Victim's mother's prior inconsistent statement.

The statement attempting to be introduced was hearsay.

Under the law of the case doctrine, an unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance. Transportation Ins. Co and Flagstar Corp. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund., 389 S.C. 422, 699 S.E.2d 687 (2010). In the current case, Appellant has not raised the issue of whether the statement in question was hearsay. Therefore, the ruling by the trial judge

¹ The whereabouts of the Victim's sibling at the time of the trial were unknown.

that the statement was hearsay is the law of the case. Even if the hearsay issue had been appealed, the statement was hearsay and did not fall into any exception, therefore it was inadmissible.

Hearsay is defined as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c) SCRE. The rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out of court statement by someone other than the person testifying which is used to prove the truth of the matter asserted. State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 582 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2009). Out of court statements made by an unavailable witness are admissible if they fall into one of the exceptions. Rules 804(b) SCRE. “Unavailable” is defined in Rule 804(a) and includes situations in which the declarant is absent from the hearing and the proponent of a statement has been unable to procure the declarant’s attendance by process or other reasonable means. Rule 804(a) SCRE. “The party offering the statement bears the burden of establishing unavailability.” Dodd v. Berlinksky, 344 S.C. 172, 177, 543 S.E.2d 237, 240 (Ct. App. 2001). The court in State v. Kinloch, held that the mere fact that the whereabouts of the declarant were unknown did not establish unavailability in a case where the Appellant failed to offer any reason for the witness’ unavailability and failed to show evidence of efforts to locate the missing witness. State v. Kinloch, 338 S.C. 385, 526 S.E.2d 705 (2000).

Here, there is no evidence offered to show that the witness was unavailable. The trial judge stated, “If I find, if I find under 804 that he’s unavailable, which I’ve made no finding of that. And there’s been no evidence or argument put into the record that suggest Victim’s sibling was unavailable.” (R. 345). Defense Counsel responded “Your Honor, I believe Ms. Jennings testified that nobody in the family knows where he is. And I can call my investigator to say that

he made a search for him and haven't been able to find him as well." (R. 345). That was all of Defense's evidence to show that the witness was "unavailable" and as the court in Kinloch held, simply not knowing the whereabouts of a witness does not classify him as unavailable. Further, even if the trial judge had found the witness unavailable, it does not fall under the exceptions to hearsay under Rule 804(b) SCRE.

Rule 804(b) SCRE states the exceptions for which statements made by an unavailable witness would be admissible:

(b) *Hearsay Exceptions*. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

(1) *Former Testimony*. Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the court of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross or redirect examination.

(2) *Statement Under Belief of Impending Death*. In a prosecution for homicide or in a civil action or proceeding, a statement made by a declarant while believing the declarant's death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death.

(3). *Statement against Interest*. A statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability, or to render invalid a claim by the declarant against another, that a reasonable person in declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true. A statement tending to expose the declarant to criminal liability and offered to exculpate the accused is not admissible unless corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement.

(4) *Statement of Personal or Family History*. (A) A statement concerning the declarant's own birth, adoption, marriage, divorce, legitimacy, relationship by blood, adoption or marriage, ancestry, or other similar fact of personal or family history, even though declarant had no means of acquiring personal knowledge of the matter stated; or (B) a statement concerning the foregoing matters, and death also, of another person, if the declarant was related to the other by blood, adoption, or marriage or was so intimately associated with the other's family as to be likely to have accurate information concerning the matter declared.

In this current case, even if the declarant had been found unavailable, none of these exceptions would apply to the declarant's statement. The statement Appellant was attempting to enter was given to an officer by a five year old (sibling) during an interview. (R. 505). Defense counsel attempted to enter the statement into evidence during trial through the statement against interest exception. (R. 339). "Rule 804(b)(3) is founded on the commonsense notion that reasonable people, even reasonable people who are not especially honest, tend not to make self-inculpatory statements unless they believe them to be true." State v. Young, 420 S.C. 608, 617, 803 S.E.2d 888, 893 (Ct. App. 2017). The statement by the sibling was not a self-inculpatory statement because even if the statement saying that sibling's mother told him to lie were true, it did not self-implicate sibling. Therefore, because the statement would not fall into the statement against interest exception to hearsay it is inadmissible hearsay.

The statement is not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement.

Rule 613(b) SCRE provides:

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible.

"A prior inconsistent statement may be admitted as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination." State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 398, 673 S.E.2d 434, 438 (2009). Appellant relies heavily on State v. Barnes, which held that a proper foundation was laid to introduce a prior inconsistent statement, when the declarant was confronted with the previous statement, the time and place it was made and the person to whom it was made and then denied making the statement. State v. Barnes, 421 S.C. 47, 804 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2017). Appellant also relies on the holding in State v. Bixby allowing the state to introduce extrinsic

evidence of defendant's mother's prior inconsistent statements. State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 698 S.E.2d 572 (2010). In Bixby, the State was able to introduce defendant's mother's prior inconsistent statements in three separate instances because once she testified, she denied making the statements that she had previously made. Id. This allowed the State to introduce her previous statements because proper foundation was laid as they were her statements and were inconsistent with her current testimony. Id.

Both Barnes and Bixby can be distinguished from the current case because in each it was the declarant's own statement that was being used against them as a prior inconsistent statement, whereas in this case it is someone else's words (Victim's sibling) to a third party (Cromartie) being used as a prior inconsistent statement of Victim's mother. This would not be admissible as a prior inconsistent statement because it is not mother's statement, meaning she would not be the declarant. It is a statement by sibling that just so happens to be inconsistent with mother's statement, but it is not her statement. Therefore, the trial judge did not err in ruling that sibling's statement was inadmissible as a prior inconsistent statement of mother.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.